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SUMMARY

Excavations adjacent to the River Crane, on a site within
the former railway marshalling yards, Feltham, revealed
evidence for Late Bronze Age to Early Iron Age occupation
and Middle Saxon settlement and agriculture. The
evidence consisted of an assemblage of Late Bronze Age—
Early Iron Age pottery sherds and radiocarbon dales for
a corn drier and a hearth, calibrated to the Middle Saxon
period. There were only a few Middle Saxon pottery sherds
but plant remains from the corn drier; and associated
daub fragments, indicate there was arable farming and a
settlement in the vicinity.

0 1000m &

Hounslow
Heath

INTRODUCTION

The Museum of London Archaeology Service
(MoLAS) undertook an excavation on a site
within the former railwaymarshalling yards to the
south of Hounslow Heath, at OS grid reference
TQ 1221 7364 (Fig 1). The site was bounded
by a culvert for the Duke of Northumberland
River to the west and by the railway to the north.
To the east and south, the area of development
extended to Hounslow Cemetery, Godfrey Way,
and the back of housing along Curtis Road and
Farm Road.
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Fig 1. Area of the former railway marshalling yards, showing the site
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The purpose of the excavation was to investigate
the potential for further archaeological remains
within the footprint of a proposed building, as
suggested by a previous evaluation (Howell 1999).
Prior to these excavations there had been no con-
clusive evidence for archaeological remains on
the site.

GEOLOGY AND TOPOGRAPHY

The site lies to the east of the River Crane, mostly
on the flat ground above the river’s floodplain.
The underlying geology of this area is the Taplow
Terrace Gravels (BGS 1998) with a narrow strip
of later alluvium, which has accumulated along
the margins of the River Crane.

The construction of the marshalling yards had
removed any remnants of earlier ground horizons
and, presumably, had truncated the natural
gravels. The marshalling yard deposits consisted
of ¢.0.50m of ash and clinker overburden over-
lying the natural sand and gravel at ¢.18.50m OD,
except along the southern edge of the site where
a ‘shunting hump’ had raised the ground level by
¢.0.80m, and in the south-west corner, where the
site extended into the river valley and the natural
gravels sloped down to ¢.17m OD.

ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITE SEQUENCE

During the course of the investigations 265
postholes, 43 pits, 3 gullies, a corn drier, and a
hearth were fully excavated and recorded (Fig
2).All these features were cutinto the underlying
gravels and were sealed by the marshalling yard
deposits. There was no horizontal stratigraphy
on thessite. The only distinguishing characteristic
of the fills of the features was the abundance of
charcoal flecks in those in the vicinity of the
hearth and corn drier (denoted by the shaded
area on Fig 2) and the absence of charcoal flecks
in those further away.

The only securely dated features were the corn
drier and the hearth, as sealed charcoal-rich
layers in each allowed for radiocarbon dating
(see Table 1). All the other features either had
no dating evidence or the dating evidence was
potentially residual. Three groups of postholes
were identified on the site: Structure 1, Structure
2 and Structure 3. Other possible groups were
regarded as too speculative.

Structure 1 consisted of 14 postholes, aligned
south-west-north-east, for a length of 17.3m.
Two postholes at the southern end of Structure

1 contained Late Bronze Age-Early Iron Age
pottery. It appeared to form a ‘palisade’ that
may continue beyond the limit of excavation.
There is an apparent density of postholes to
the north-west of the palisade, whereas only a
possible four-post structure was located to the
south-east. This palisade may mark a division
between the internal and external elements of a
settlement. Alternatively, there may be returns to
the structure at the southern and northern ends
to suggest a rectilinear building. This implies a
type of building that is more likely to be of Saxon
date. On what appears to be the external side
of Structure 1, four postholes define a square
feature (Structure 2). Measuring approximately
3m on each side, the date and function of this
structure are unknown other than it appears
to be associated with the palisade or building.
Structure 3 lies to the north of the hearth and,
as such, appears to be associated with it (see
below).

LATE BRONZE AGE TO EARLY IRON AGE
OCCUPATION EVIDENCE

The evidence for Late Bronze Age to Early Iron
Age occupation is derived from the analysis of
the pottery. Of the identified features, only 49
contained sherds of Late Bronze Age-Early Iron
Age pottery, including seven postholes that also
contained sherds of Saxon pottery. Therefore
it is highly likely that many of the sherds were
residual in later Saxon features and, as a result,
no individual features on the site have been
assigned to this period (see Fig 2). However,
the quantity of Late Bronze Age-Early Iron
Age pottery sherds does suggest that there was
significant activity on the site during the Late
Bronze Age to Early Iron Age Transition period
(¢.8th—6th century BC).

The excavation produced 220 sherds (2,224g)
of later prehistoric pottery. Nine fabrics have
been identified on the basis of the main inclus-
ion types present. There are three main fabric
groupings — flint-tempered (FLIN1-5), sand-
tempered (QUI-3), and shell-tempered (SH1)
— with all nine fabrics apparently of local
manufacture (see site archive for full details).
Flint-tempered fabrics were commonly used
in the Late Bronze Age in the Thames Valley
region, as found at Runnymede Bridge (Longley
1991). During the Late Bronze Age to Early Iron
Age Transition period the use of sand-tempered
wares increased, resulting in primarily sandy
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Fig 2. Plan of the site showing the archaeological features as recorded

wares in the Early Iron Age. Following this
sequence, this assemblage falls within the Late
Bronze Age to Early Iron Age Transition period,
as flint-tempered, flint-with-sand, and sandy
fabrics are all present (Barclay 1995, 10). Red
iron-rich inclusions are present in all but one
of the flint-tempered fabrics and in two of the
sandy fabrics, suggesting they occurred naturally
in the raw clay used for the manufacture of these
vessels. The use of clays with iron-rich inclusions
has been noted in other assemblages from the
West London area. At Caesar’s Camp, Heathrow
all of the sherds had ‘ferruginous pellets or iron-
rich inclusions’, which after petrological analysis

were considered to be naturally occurring in the
clay, and likely to be of local source (Williams
1993, 351). Sherds of Late Bronze Age to Early
Iron Age date from Snowy Field Waye, Isleworth
were also recorded in a flint and iron-rich
fabric (Timby 1996, 46-7) and the presence
of fabrics with ferruginous pellets was noted
in an assemblage from Jewsons Yard, Uxbridge
(Barclay 1995, 10).

With only ten rim sherds and two other
featured sherds present, only a small proportion
of the pottery could be assigned to any known
forms. The diagnostic sherds are from coarse
ware and fine ware jars (Barrett 1980, Class I &
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Fig 3. Selected Late Bronze Age—Early Iron Age pottery sherds (<P1>—<P3>, <P5>—<P9,<P11> and

<P12>) and Saxon potlery sherd (<P4>) (scale 1:4)

IT) and fine ware bowls, including both bipartite
and tripartite examples, such as <P6>, <P8> and
<P11> (see Fig 3). The largest fragments came
from the shoulder of a carinated jar, <P5>, with
well burnished surfaces, conforming to Barrett
Class II jars.

Decorated sherds are present in the assembl-
age,withfinger-tippingandfingernailimpressions
on the shoulders and rims of coarse ware jars of
Barrett Class I type (Fig 3, <P1>, <P2>, <P3>,
<P12>). The cabling of rims is paralleled in the
Late Bronze Age assemblage from Runnymede
Bridge, which also has evidence of fingertip and
fingernail impressions (Longley 1991, 165). The
surfaces of these coarse jars have frequently been
wiped, probably with organic matter, leaving
striations on the surface. The fine ware vessels
are smoothed and burnished and two examples
of incised decoration are present (Fig 3, <P7>,
<P11>). The small sherd <P7> with incised tri-
angular decoration is similar to examples from
Runnymede Bridge, where the use of combed
decoration, hatched triangles, and incised lines
is evidenced (Longley 1991, 165). The tripartite

bowl with incised lines on the shoulder, <P11>,
is paralleled in the assemblage from Heathrow
and is closely aligned to vessels in Cunliffe’s
Darmsden-Linton group (Canham 1978a, 20,
fig 14, no. 30; Cunliffe 1991, 326, fig A:11).

The majority of the assemblage is treated here as
one ceramic phase in the absence of stratigraphic
information. This aside, the pottery has many
traits comparable to other assemblages from the
Thames Valley, especially those from Heathrow
(Canham 1978a), Petters Sports Field, Egham
(O’Connell 1986, 62), and Snowy Field Waye,
Isleworth (Timby 1996, 46). Unfortunately anal-
ysis did not reveal any obvious pattern to the
spatial distribution of the pottery sherds, but
in spite of this, the recovery of this pottery is
important as it provides evidence for settlement
in the vicinity. The presence of carbonised
residues and sooting on some of the sherds sug-
gests this activity included cooking and this is
supported by a small amount of burnt flint.

Also recovered from the site were 234 pieces
of burnt flint (weighing 1,595g). These were
collected from a range of features, including
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those associated with a corn drier (see below).
The large quantity of burnt flint may reflect
various domestic activities such as cooking, but
may also have had a secondary use as temper
for pottery. Burnt unworked flint is relatively
common on prehistoric sites, becoming partic-
ularly abundant on later Bronze Age and Iron
Age sites. In the vicinity, a number of sites have
produced comparable material, including the
former Jewsons Yard site at Uxbridge (Bradley
1995, 16-17).

Discussion

The significance of the west Middlesex trib-
utaries in the Late Bronze Age to Early Iron
Age is poorly understood compared to the field-
systems that have been extensively excavated in
the Heathrow area. What the functional use of
these rivers was and whether they were used as
trade routes has not been established. Finds such
as the five copper-alloy socketed axes discovered
near to the River Brent at Park Royal (Cotton
& Wood 1996, 19-21) show the potential for
further finds of this period in the catchment of
the West London tributaries. The excavations at
the former marshalling yards, considering the
extensive horizontal truncation, have recovered
a little evidence of what might have been a large
settlement. However, the interpretation of the
site in this period probably lies in understanding
its relationship with the earthwork known as
Hounslow Camp to the east. Although undated,
Hounslow Camp is similar to other Bronze Age/
Iron Age enclosures in the Thames Valley, such
as St John’s Camp, 3km to the north (Cotton
1990, 1-3), and another morphologically similar
camp 400m to the west of the River Brent at
Wyke Green.

MIDDLE SAXON SETTLEMENT AND
AGRICULTURE

The highly truncated nature of the site presents
the same problems for identifying features of
Middle Saxon date as it does for the Late Bronze
Age-Early Iron Age features. Seven postholes,

distributed across the site, contained sherds
of pottery dated to the 5th-7th centuries AD.
A possible indicator of Middle Saxon features
is the presence of charcoal in the fill. These
features (see Fig 2) are found in the vicinity of
the corn drier and the hearth to the south of
the site, which are presumably the origin of the
debris. However the absence of charcoal in the
pits and postholes to the north and east does
not preclude them from being of Saxon date.
The only secured dating on site came from
radiocarbon dated samples from sealed contexts
within a feature identified as a corn drier and
another identified as a hearth (Table 1). Sample
{104} was taken from a deposit [1522] in the
corn drier and sample {109} from a carbon-rich
deposit [1635] in the layers of debris in the
hearth.

The corn drier

The ‘L’-shaped corn drier (Fig 4) was located
where the slope towards the river begins; it is
made up of two components: the drying chamber
and the flue. Measuring 2.90 x 2.50m and 0.60m
deep, the pit of the drying chamber was clad
with a 0.10-0.30m thick lining of reconstituted
brickearth. Around the outer base of the pit
24 stakeholes were found cutting the lining,
although they could have predated it. Overlying
this construction was a charred grain-rich
deposit [1522], from which the radiocarbon
dating sample was retrieved. There was also an
environmental sample (see below) taken from
the same deposit (evaluation context [212]
sample {2}). The charred material might be the
result of a catastrophic event or an accumulation
of grains falling through from a superstructure
above. The main backfill deposit contained
abundant daub fragments, many of which have
wattle impressions on them (see below). The
flue is 7.40m long, 1.70m wide and 0.38m deep,
and, despite being truncated by the footings
of the wagon repair shed at a crucial point, it
appears to bend through 90 degrees to join the
drying chamber. The sides of the flue were clad
with the same material as the drying chamber,

Table 1. Radiocarbon dates calibrated by Beta Analytic, using INTCAL 98 (Stuiver et al 1998)

Sample no.  Laboratory no. Uncalibrated Date Calibrated Date (95% probability)
104 Beta-136729 1380+70 BP AD 550 to 775
109 Beta-136730 1240+60 BP AD 665 to 910 and AD 920 to 955
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Fig 4. Plan of Middle Saxon corn drier (scale 1:100)

except at the northern end, where the absence
of lining suggests the location of a stokehole.
The brickearth cladding on the base of the
drying chamber only extends a shortlength into
the flue. There were no charred grain deposits
in the drying chamber, only the general backfill
deposits. It is possible that some of the gullies
to the north and the irregular alignment of
postholes to the south represent an enclosure
for the corn drier. In addition, there are three
sherds of pottery from a posthole and a stakehole
in the immediate vicinity of the hearth ([1458],
[1540]) and four sherds from a single jar are
from a posthole to the north-east of the corn
drier ([1426]).

A sample from the corn drier was dominated
by charred grains and seeds. The most abundant
identifiable grains were those of bread wheat
(Tritcum aestivum L) and barley (Hordeum sativum
L). Also present were grains of rye/wheat (Secale/
Triticum spp) and wheat (Triticum spp). No
chaff was recorded, indicating that this grain-
rich sample represents cleaned grain, ready for
milling or drying. The weed seeds present are
smaller than the grains so would have passed

through sieves as the grain was cleaned. The
best preserved weed seeds were those of fat hen
(Chenopodium album L) and stinking mayweed
(Anthemis cotula L). Fat hen prefers nitrogenous
soils and is common among vegetable crops
and spring cereals (Hanf 1982, 202). Stinking
mayweed thrives in nutrient-rich, waterlogged
loams and clay soils (ibid, 235), confirming the
location next to a slow-running river. Seeds of
brome (Bromus spp) and vetch/tare/vetchling
(Lathyrus/ Vicia spp) were present but were too
poorly preserved to allow closer identification;
species of these plants are also common in
arable land and among cereal crops.

Hearth

25m to the south-east of the corn drier, there is an
irregular feature. Like the corn drier, it is located
on the edge of the slope down to the river and
has two components: a hearth and a flue. At its
eastern end there was the following sequence of
deposits. It had a clay base with a burnt surface.
Over this was a layer of charcoal, from which the
radiocarbon sample was obtained. Then another
layer of burnt clay into which flint pebbles had
been set. This was overlain by a layer of fire
debris. The hearth measured 3 by ¢.2m and was
250mm thick. An irregular cut tapers for ¢.6.5m
to the west from the hearth; its exact relationship
to the hearth is unclear but presumably its
function was to provide extra oxygen for more
effective firing\heating.

To the north lies Structure 3 which appears
to be the north wall of a building housing the
hearth. At ¢.13m in length, this would suggest a
sizeable, but not unusual, building for the early
to mid-Saxon period (Bob Cowie, pers comm).
There is no evidence of a return wall to the
structure and little evidence that the two are even
contemporary, as the post alignment is dated to
the 5th—6th century Ap, from a sherd of Early
Saxon pottery from a posthole at the eastern end,
while the hearth is at the earliest 7th-century.

One fragment of brick and two fragments of
roofing tegula were found in the hearth, [1628].
They belong to a fabric which was manufactured
at various Kkilns sites between London and St
Albans and perhaps also to the south-west of
London in the period between c¢. AD 50 and the
mid-2nd century. Radiocarbon dates, however,
indicate a Saxon date for the hearth, so this
material must be residual.
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Pits [1463] and [1248]

Acthird possible industrial feature islocated ¢.6.5m
to the north-east of the hearth. It consists of pit
[1463] and pit [1248]. Both features have a light
grey fine sandy silt fill and contain fragments of
daub in their upper fills, which suggests a Saxon
date. The pits are relatively large for the site,
with pit [1463] 2.50-3.50m in diameter and 0.5m
deep. The lowest fill of this pit is a light bluish-
grey ash deposit, 0.30m thick, which suggests
that the function of the pit was associated with
a firing process. Heavily fragmented animal
bone recovered from the upper fills had been
calcined. To obtain the characteristic bluish-
white appearance of calcined bone, temperatures
in excess of 600°C need to be applied for a pro-
longed period of time (Liddle 2000). Pit [1248],
to the south, appears to be associated with the
former as it is elongated towards it. However the
function of the two pits, whether associated or
not, is unclear.

Pottery

The excavation produced a small assemblage of
16 sherds (113g) that could be of Saxon date.
These were recovered from seven excavated
contexts, all the fills of postholes and stakeholes.
Six fabrics have been defined in this assemblage
on the basis of the main inclusion types present
(see site archive for full details). All but one
are predominantly sand-tempered. The most
distinctive feature of the sandy fabrics is the
presence of iron-rich inclusions that occur as
pellets and rounded nodules in all but one of
the fabrics. This suggests that the clay is from
the same source as that used for the prehistoric
fabrics. Only one rim is present; this is of a
simple everted form (Fig 3, <P4>). Most other
sherds can be said to derive from jars; the
chaff-tempered sherd is from part of a base,
but more precise identification is impossible.
No decorated sherds are present, and surface
treatment is confined to burnishing. The
pottery can be placed in the Early Saxon period
(¢.5th-7th century Ap) and is treated here as
one group, although some sherds could be of
prehistoric date. Taken together, the lack of
coarse sandstone-tempered wares, decorated
sherds, and chaff-tempered wares, together with
the homogeneous nature of the assemblage,
might point to a date in the first half of the 6th
century. This just falls on the edge of the earlier

bracket of one of the radiocarbon dates (see
Table 1), but on the whole the latter appear to
point towards a 7th-century date for at least some
activity on the site. The assemblage is, however,
too small and undiagnostic to offer anything but
the broadest dating. Saxon pottery has not been
found in this area before now.

Although limited in size, the assemblage is of
importance in providing evidence for some form
of settlement in the vicinity. The pottery also
fits within a wider distribution pattern of Saxon
features and finds from excavations in West
London (Blackmore 1986; Cotton et al 1986,
69-74; Blackmore 1993). Here the distribution
of Saxon occupation sites seems to be bimodal.
Some sites are alongside the Thames, but an
increasing number are being discovered in
tributary valleys at some distance from the
Thames. In the Crane valley itself, Saxon pottery
has been recovered from sites upstream, in the
Cranford area, at Harlington. In the Colne
valley, there seems to have been a concentration
of occupation at Harmondsworth (Laidlaw
& Mepham 1996, 26-38; Laidlaw & Mepham
1999, 35-43). No Saxon finds have so far been
recovered downstream from the Feltham site,
but other settlements might be expected at the
confluence of the Thames and the Crane. Other
sites in the area include Northolt (Hurst 1961),
a possible cemetery and settlement at Hanwell
(Wheeler 1935, 136-8), and Brentford (Canham
1978b). It can be said that the proportions of
sandy and sandstone-tempered wares decrease
during the 5th century and into the 6th century,
as chaff-tempered wares become more common,
but, in the absence of diagnostic sherds, there is
a serious problem in distinguishing 8th-century
contexts from 6th- or 7th-century ones. This
is mainly due to the fact that the forms of the
undecorated chaff-tempered vessels changed
little over time, and because imported wares
such as are found in the 7th-to-9th-century
trading settlement of Lundenwic have not yet
been identified in the hinterland and may never
have reached it.

Building material

A total of almost 77kg of daub was recorded,
mostly from the pits and postholes that are
a marked feature of the site. Most of the
approximately 1,900 fragments are very small,
although there are also a number of larger
pieces, up to 160mm across. Some of the daub
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preserves very good impressions of stakes
and wattles and occasionally there are other
impressions. A number of flat faces are present
and these sometimes show evidence of surface
treatment. The daub from the corn drier is
dated by radiocarbon to the Saxon period and
the rest is of similar date. Two principal fabrics
have been recognised. Both are mainly reddish-
brown in colour, but whereas one has a very
fine sandy matrix, the other has much larger
quartz grains. Similar distinctions have been
noted in other assemblages of Saxon daub,
for example from Middle Saxon occupation
sites in Lundenwic, in the Covent Garden area
of London (Goffin 1988, 115; Goffin 1989,
110). The distinction between the two types on
this site is sometimes very marked, notably in
context [1459]. Both types contain occasional
large rounded pebbles. Some of the material
has been burned, presumably accidentally, and
some of this is light in weight with small voids,
caused by organic grass, or straw, binders having
rotted; such binders helped to prevent the daub
cracking as it dried out. Some of the burnt pieces
have grey interiors from where the material
has been reduced during accidental firing;
others have blackened surfaces. A few pieces in
the finer fabric contain calcareous inclusions
and are slightly pinkish in colour. There are
occasional fine organic fibres, possibly plant
roots, in the matrix; these may come from plants
in the raw material or from plant matter present
in animal dung added to the daub mix. The
fibres would have acted as binders to the daub,
though it is unlikely that such small fibres were
deliberately added (other than as part of animal
dung) in order to achieve this end. However,
apart from these roots and the voids in some
pieces mentioned above, the daub shows little
evidence for the use of binders. This indicates
that the daub dried slowly, suggesting that it was
applied in the winter, or that the climate was
cooler.

The larger pieces and some of the smaller
pieces show clear evidence of their having been
used as part of wattle-and-daub construction.
The slightly curving impressions, round in
section, from interwoven wattles are very well
preserved in a number of examples. In diameter
they range from 7mm to 20mm with most lying in
the range 11-13mm. Some pieces also preserve
the impressions of the vertical stakes around
which the wattles would have been woven. These
are slightly thicker than the wattles, ranging

between about 20 and 24mm in diameter. One
piece found in the hearth, [1628], has the
impression of a thin wooden lath rather than
of wattles, indicating its use in lath-and-daub
construction. Although wattle-and-daub, or
lath-and-daub as an alternative, could be used
on their own, their commonest deployment was
as panel filling in timber-framed construction.
One piece from context [1460] preserves what
appears to be the impression of a probably
circular post, although insufficient remains
to determine its radius. This would indicate a
fairly ‘primitive’ form of construction, with
the wattles attached to a support of unsquared
timbers. A piece from context [214], on the
other hand, has the impression of a square
timber, although once again its dimensions are
not preserved. This may represent a post or stud
from a timber-framed structure superior to that
using the circular post, although equally it may
represent no more than a door-post within a
more ‘primitive’ structure of the sort employing
the circular post.

Afew pieces preserve their flatfaces, which may
have been either inside or outside the building.
Most are fairly smooth, although a number from
contexts [1460] and [1487] are fairly irregular.
In a few instances there are faint fingerprints in
these surfaces from where the daub was pressed
into position between the wattles. Some also
have faint straw or grass (hay) impressions in
the surfaces. It is difficult to account for these
unless the organic materials were lightly pressed
into the surfaces to aid drying or possibly to
help form a key for subsequent covering of
the daub, either with limewash or with a more
substantial plaster or render. No such coverings,
however, survive on the fragments. One very
small fragment from [214] shows what may be
fine combing; this may have been intended as a
key for limewash or some other finishing coat. A
few surfaces show blackening from where they
were burned.

Discussion

Large quantities of daub have shown evidence
for wattle-and-daub and lath-and-daub panel
filling in timber-framed constructions that
suggests a settlement. The pottery, although
scant, when interpreted with the radiocardon
dating suggests the Saxon settlement existed
around the 7th century AD. The most significant
features of this period are the corn drier and the
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hearth, and these have been shown to indicate
the preparation of grain for milling, further
suggesting the proximity of a watermill.

If the site is a settlement, then the pottery
does not appear to have been influenced by
the major trading settlement at Lundenuwic.
However analysis of plant remains recovered
from Lundenwic suggests that ‘cleaned or semi-
cleaned’ wheat and barley grain was imported
from the surrounding countryside (Davis &
de Moulins 1988; de Moulins & Davis 1989).
Although a direct trade link with Lundewic
cannot be proved, the existence of the corn drier
at Feltham does suggest that the settlement may
have been trading agricultural produce to this
developing settlement.

Archaeological evidence for rural settlement
in the early to mid-Saxon period in the London
region is scarce, despite the high occurrence
of placenames of Saxon origin. Charters
dating from the 7th century onwards often
refer to estates, possibly surviving from earlier
Roman ones (Gelling 1979), or reusing Roman
boundaries. Whether this site is part of such an
estate is unclear. The recovery of Roman roof
tiles from the flue of the hearth on this site
and the evidence for a substantial late Roman
building in the vicinity of Cranford Lane, 5km
to the north-west (see Thompson et al 1998, 79),
suggest the potential for future discoveries of
Roman settlement in the vicinity of the River
Crane. It remains to be seen whether this link
can be made, but further research would benefit
from analysis of Ralph Treswell’s map of Sion
(dated 1607) which shows a feature marked
as ‘castell’, distinct from Hounslow Camp,
located near to the site (Cotton 1990, 7). The
definition of such an archaeological site may
suggest a continuity of landuse that has been
over-shadowed by the perceived remoteness of
the heath in the medieval and post-medieval
periods.
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